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VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

lllinois Bell Telephone Company ("AT&T Illinois"), by counsel, files this complaint 

against Halo Wireless, Inc. ("Halo"), pursuant to the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996, 

Section 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act ("PUA") and 83 Ill. Adm. Code § 200.170. 

AT&T lllinois seeks an order excusing it from further performance under its wireless 

interconnection agreement ("ICA") with Halo, based on Halo's material breaches of that ICA. 

The ICA does not authorize Halo to send AT&T traffic that does not originate on a wireless 

network. Halo, however, is breaching the ICA by sending large volumes of traffic to AT&T 

lllinois that does not originate on a wireless network, in furtherance of what appears to be an 

access charge avoidance scheme. As a result of this and other breaches of the ICA, Halo owes 

AT&T lllinois significant amounts of money - amounts that grow rapidly each month and that 

Halo refuses to pay. 

AT&T lllinois brings this Complaint in order to be able to discontinue its provision of 

interconnection and traffic transit and termination of service to Halo. AT&T lllinois also seeks 

an Order stating that Halo owes AT&T Illinois the applicable charges for services rendered by 

AT&T lllinois, without determining any specific amounts due, and AT&T Illinois urges the 

Commission to give expedited consideration to its Complaint. 



On August 8, 2011, following the commencement of various state commission 

proceedings similar to this one, Halo filed a chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding in the United 

States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Texas (the "Bankruptcy Court"), and 

maintained that the state regulatory proceedings were subject to the statutory automatic stay in 

bankruptcy, 11 U.S.C. § 362. On October 26,2011, however, the Bankruptcy Court entered an 

Order ruling that the automatic stay is not applicable to the state regulatory proceedings (except 

as otherwise set forth therein). Consistent with that Order, AT&T lllinois does not ask the 

Commission to quantify any amount that Halo owes AT&T Illinois, or to order Halo to pay 

AT&T Illinois. If the Commission determines, as the Tennessee Regulatory Authority ("TRA") 

recently did in a parallel case, I that Halo is liable for access charges and facilities charges, 

AT&T lllinois will pursue any further remedy in the bankruptcy court. 

In support of its Complaint, AT&T Illinois states as follows: 

1. AT&T Illinois is an incumbent local exchange carrier ("ILEC") as defined in 47 

U.S.C. § 251(h) with offices at 225 West Randolph Street, Chicago, Illinois, 60606 and is 

authorized to provide telecommunications services in the state of lllinois. 

2. Halo Wireless, Inc. is a Texas corporation with its principal place of business at 

2351 West Northwest Highway, Suite 1204, Dallas, Texas 75220. Halo purports to be a CMRS 

provider. 

3. On May 4,2010, and May 26, 2010, respectively, Halo and AT&T Illinois 

executed an interconnection agreement that was approved by the Commission in Docket No. 10-

0374 on August 18,2010. Also on May 4,2010 and May 26,2010, respectively, Halo and 

AT&T Illinois executed an amendment to the interconnection agreement. That amendment was 

1 See, Order, BellSouth Telecommunications, UC d/b/a AT&T Tennessee vs. Halo Wireless, Inc., Tennessee 
Regulatory Authority Docket No. 11-00119 (Issued January 26, 2012). A copy of the TRA's ruling is attached 
hereto as Exhibit 1. 
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approved by the Commission in Docket 10-0375 on August 18,2010. A copy ofthe ICA as 

amended is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

4. The Commission has jurisdiction over this Complaint because it involves 

violations of an interconnection agreement entered into under 47 U.S.c. §§ 251 and 252 and 

approved by the Commission, and violations of AT&T Illinois' state tariffs. The Commission 

also has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 10-108 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act ("PUA"), 220 

n.,CS 511 0-108. 

COUNT I 
BREACH OF ICA: SENDING WIRELINE-ORIGINATED 

TRAFFIC TO AT&T ILLINOIS 

5. AT&T Illinois repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-4 above. 

6. The parties' ICA authorizes Halo to send only wireless-originated Commercial 

Mobile Radio Service ("CMRS") traffic to AT&T Illinois. For example, a recital that the parties 

added through an amendment to the ICA when Halo adopted the ICA, states: 

Whereas, the Parties have agreed that this Agreement will apply 
only to (l) traffic that originates on AT&T's network or is transited 
through AT&T's network and is routed to Carrier's wireless 
network for wireless termination by Carrier; and (2) traffic that 
originates through wireless transmitting and receiving facilities 
before [Halo] delivers traffic to AT&T for termination by AT&T 
or for transit to another network. (Emphasis added). 

7. Despite that requirement, Halo sends traffic to AT&T Illinois that is not wireless-

originated traffic, but rather is landline-originated interstate, interLATA or intraLATA toll 

traffic. The purpose and effect of this breach of the parties' ICA is to avoid payment of the 

access charges that by law apply to the landline-originated traffic that Halo is delivering to 

AT&T Illinois. 

8. By sending landline-originated traffic to AT&T Illinois, Halo is materially 

breaching the parties' ICA. In light of this breach, AT&T Illinois respectfully requests that the 
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Commission excuse AT&T illinois from further performance under the ICA and allow it to 

discontinue its provision of traffic transit and termination service to Halo, and grant all other 

necessary relief. 

COUNT II 
OBLIGATION TO PAY ACCESS CHARGES FOR 

TERMINATION OF WlRELINE·ORIGINATED TRAFFIC 

9 . AT&T Illinois repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-8 above. 

10. As explained above, Halo's delivery of land line-originated traffic to AT&T 

Illinois is not allowed by the ICA. Accordingly, all such traffic previously sent to AT&T Illinois 

by Halo and terminated by AT&T Illinois to AT&T Illinois' end users is not governed by the 

ICA, but is instead subject to tariffed switched access charges. AT&T Illinois has demanded that 

Halo pay such charges, but Halo, without lawful justification or excuse, has refused to do so. 

AT&T Illinois therefore requests that the Commission declare that any landline-originated traffic 

that Halo has sent to AT&T Illinois is subject to AT&T Illinois' tariffed access charges, and that 

Halo should be required to pay those charges.2 

COUNT III 
BREACH OF ICA: NON·PAYMENT FOR FACILITIES 

11. AT&T Illinois repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-10 above. 

12. Pursuant to the ICA, Halo has ordered, and AT&T Illinois has provided, facilities 

associated with interconnection with AT&T Illinois. 

13. AT&T Illinois has billed Halo for these facilities on a monthly basis pursuant to 

the ICA. Halo, however, has refused, with no lawful justification or excuse, to pay those bills. 

2 In light of the pending Halo bankruptcy proceeding, and more specifically the bankruptcy court order noted above, 
AT&T Illinois requests that the Commission make this declaration without determining any specific amounts due. 
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14. AT&T lllinois respectfully requests that the Commission declare that Halo must 

pay for the facilities it obtains from AT&T lllinois, at the rates required by the ICA, and should 

be required to pay AT&T lllinois the full amount due for previously provided facilities. 3 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

15. Based on the foregoing, AT&T lllinois respectfully requests that the Commission 

make the following findings and grant the following relief: 

(a) Expedite the processing of this case; 

(b) Find that Halo has materially breached the ICA by sending landline-

originated traffic to AT&T lllinois and failing to pay for interconnection facilities; 

(c) Find that as a result ofthese breaches (or anyone of them), AT&T lllinois 

is excused from further performance under the ICA and may stop accepting traffic from Halo; 

(d) Find, without detennining any specific amounts due, that Halo is liable to 

AT&T lllinois for access charges on the interstate and interLAT A landline traffic it has sent to 

AT&T Illinois; 

(e) Find, without detennining any specific amounts due, that Halo is liable for 

the cost of interconnection facilities it has obtained from AT&T Illinois; and 

(0 Grant all other relief as is just and appropriate. 

Electronic Service 

AT&T Illinois agrees to accept service by electronic means as provided for in 83 TIl. 

Admin. Code § 200.1050. 

3 See note 2 above. 
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March 8, 2012 

Dennis G. Friedman 
J. Tyson Covey 
Mayer Brown LLP 
71 South Wacker Drive 
Chicago, 1L 60606 
(312) 701-7319 
dfriedman@mayerbrown.com 
jcovey@mayerbrown.com 

Respectfully submitted, 

Karl B. A derson 
AT&T Illinois 
225 West Randolph, Floor 25D 
Chicago, 1L 60606 
(312) 727-2928 
kaI873@att.com 
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VERIFICATION 

I, W. Karl Wardin, on oath, state that I am Regional Vice President - Regulatory for 

AT&T Illinois, that I have reviewed the foregoing VERIFIED COMPLAINT, and that, to the 

best of my knowledge, information and belief, the statements of fact contained therein are true 

and correct. 

Subscribed and sworn to before 
me this ~ day of March 2012 

~~, Bl4~ d>'l---=--
Notary Public, State of Illinois 

"'-.S '---....... '->--.S - 9_5 
W. Karl Wardin 

OFFICIAL SEAL 
ALETHA J BLACKMON 

NOTARY PUBLIC· STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:04/23/14 


